## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# **CASE NO. SC04-1264**

### PAUL HILDWIN,

## Appellant,

v.

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

DAVID DIXON HENDRY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0160016 ASSISTANT CCC CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

# **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Paul Hildwin was originally tried and convicted in 1986 for the first degree murder of Vronzettie Cox and sentenced to death. During the trial, the State utilized biological evidence secured at the crime scene and expert testimony regarding bloodtypes to argue that the Defendant raped and murdered the victim. In 2001, newly discovered DNA testing obtained in latest rounds of postconviction excludes Paul Hildwin as the donor of subject biological samples (PC current ROA Vol. I, 00065-00068), thus revealing that he was wrongly convicted and is actually innocent of the crime charged.

At trial in 1986, the State argued that panties and a washcloth recovered at the crime scene contained semen and saliva matching the blood characteristics of the defendant. The State informed the jury through expert testimony that the semen and saliva found on the panties and washcloth came from a non-secretor. The State successfully argued that because male non-secretors make up only 11% of the population, Paul Hildwin was obviously the perpetrator due to his status as a male non-secretor. At a resentencing hearing in 1996, the jury inquired, **A**Was the victim raped?<sup>@</sup> This question could not be answered due to the unavailability of DNA evidence. This Court, in analyzing the facts of the case stated on direct appeal, **A**[the victim] was brutally attacked, as evidenced by the torn bra found with the body...the evidence points convincingly to a conclusion that the appellant

#### abducted, raped, and slowly killed his victim@). <u>Hildwin v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 124

at 128 (Fla. 1988). We know now due to DNA testing that this conclusion is

incorrect. The facts of the guilt phase of this case were summarized as follows by this

Court on direct appeal:

Appellant was arrested after cashing a check purportedly written to him by one Vronzettie Cox, a forty-two year-old woman whose body had been found in the trunk of her car, which was hidden in dense woods in Hernando County. Death was due to strangulation; she also had been raped. Evidence indicated she had been killed in a different locale from where her body was found. Her purse, from which some contents had been removed, was found in dense woods, directly on line between her car and appellant's house. A pair of semen-encrusted women's underpants was found on a laundry bag in her car, as was a sweat-stained wash rag. Analysis showed the semen and sweat came from a nonsecretor (i.e., one who does not secrete blood into other bodily fluids). Appellant, a white male, was found to be a nonsecretor; there was testimony that white male nonsecretors make up eleven percent of the population.

The victim had been missing for four days when her body was found. The man she lived with, one Haverty, said she had left their home to wash clothes at a coin laundry. To do so, she had to pass a convenience store. Appellant's presence in the area of the store on the date of her disappearance had come about this way: He and two women had gone to a drive-in movie, where they had spent all their money. Returning home early in the morning, their car ran out of *g*as. A search of the roadside yielded pop bottles, which they redeemed for cash and bought some gasoline. However, they still could not start the car. After spending the night in the car, appellant set off on foot at 9 a.m. toward the convenience store near the coin laundry. He had no money when he left, but when he returned about an hour and a half later, he had money and a radio. Later that day, he cashed a check (which he later admitted forging) written to him on Ms. Cox's account. The teller who cashed the check remembered appellant cashing it and recalled that he was driving a car similar to the victim's.

The check led police to appellant. After arresting him the police searched his house, where they found the radio and a ring, both of which had belonged to the victim. Appellant gave several explanations for this evidence and several accounts of the killing, but at trial testified that he had been with Haverty and the victim while they

were having an argument, and that when Haverty began beating and choking her, he left. He said he stole the checkbook, the ring, and the radio. Haverty had an alibi for the time of the murder and was found to be a secretor.

Appellant made two pretrial statements that are pertinent here. One was a confession made to a cellmate. The other was a statement made to a police officer to the effect that Ms. Cox's killer had a tattoo on his back. Haverty had no such tattoo, but appellant did. [Hildwin, Id. At 125-126]

Not mentioned in the above summary was a statement allegedly made to law enforcement wherein the defendant told an Investigator Phifer that after the perpetrator choked the victim, the perpetrator wiped his face with a wash rag. This was emphasized in the state's closing argument at (Dir. ROA Vol. VI 971-2) as the state argued that Paul Hildwin was the actual killer with the tattoo on his back, and Paul Hildwin (a non-secretor) was the actual killer as evidenced by serology testing showing that saliva from a non-secretor was found on the washcloth recovered from the crime scene.

Due to newly discovered DNA evidence in this case, the Defendant should be afforded a new trial, or in the alternative, a full and fair evidentiary hearing based on the newly discovered DNA evidence and mock trial studies showing support for his claims. This appeal concerns the lower court=s AOrder Denying Amended Successive Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence.@ (PC current ROA Vol. III, 00422-00430). The Defendant urges this Court to reverse the aforementioned ruling and afford the Defendant a fair trial.

### **Note Regarding References**

References to the record of the direct appeal of the trial, judgment and sentence in this case are of the form, e.g. (Dir. ROA Vol I, 123). References to the record of the most recent postconviction record on appeal are in the form, e.g. (PC current ROA Vol. I, 123). There was a previous collateral postconviction proceeding in this case, and references to the record in the appeal of the trial court=s denial of postconviction relief in that proceeding are of the form, e.g. (PC past Vol I, 123). On appeal, the case was reversed for a resentencing proceeding before a jury. References to the record on appeal of that proceeding are of the form, e.g. (Resentencing, Vol I, 123). Generally, Paul Hildwin is referred to as **A**the defendant@throughout this motion. The Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel**B** Middle Region, representing the defendant, is shortened to **A**CCRC.@

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I: Newly discovered DNA evidence establishes that Paul Hildwin is innocent of first degree murder, and the circuit court erred in holding that the newly discovered DNA evidence does not warrant a new trial.

ARGUMENT II: The circuit court erred in refusing to consider the Appellant-s mock

trial exercises and related sociological evidence, primarily based on <u>Frye</u>. This ruling deprived the Appellant of postconviction due process.

ARGUMENT III: The circuit court erred in holding that constitutional claims regarding constructive amendments and fatal variances in the indictment were procedurally barred.

ARGUMENT IV: The cumulative effect of the errors that occurred during Mr. Hildwin=s trial and postconviction proceedings violated his constitutional rights. The circuit court clearly erred in refusing to consider evidence presented at a prior evidentiary hearing, thus depriving him of a required cumulative analysis.

### **ARGUMENT I**

NEWLY DISCOVERED SCIENTIFIC (DNA) EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT HILDWIN IS ACTUALLY INNOCENT OF THE CRIME AND INNOCENT OF THE DEATH PENALTY, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, SHOWS THAT IN LIGHT OF THE NEW DNA EVIDENCE THE DEFENDANT WOULD PROBABLY BE ACQUITTED ON RETRIAL, OR AT THE VERY LEAST, RECEIVE A LESSER SENTENCE PURSUANT TO JONES AND SHOWS THAT HILDWIN<del>S</del> RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS WERE VIOLATED

#### **Standard of Review.**

This Court has outlined two requirements needed to receive relief based on

newly discovered evidence.

First, the asserted facts "must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence." <u>Hallman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 371 So. 2d at 485. Second, "the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would <u>probably</u> produce an acquittal on retrial." <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991). The <u>Jones</u> standard is also applicable where the issue is whether a life or death sentence should have been imposed. <u>Id.</u>

Scott v. Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465, 468 (Fla. 1992). In reviewing newly discovered

evidence claims, this Court gives deference to the circuit court-s findings of fact if they

are supported by competent and substantial evidence. Melendez v. State, 718 So.2d

746, 747 (Fla.1998).

Paul Hildwin has been serving over eighteen years on Florida=s death row for a crime of which he was falsely accused, a crime of which misleading evidence was presented at trial to obtain his conviction. Paul Hildwin did not rape and murder Vronzettie Cox as Aproven@ at trial.

Paul Hildwin has been excluded through 21<sup>st</sup> Century DNA testing as the donor of biological evidence secured at this 1985 crime scene. This same biological evidence was utilized at trial by the state to secure his wrongful conviction. At trial in 1986, the state informed the jury in their opening statement that Paul Hildwin deposited semen and saliva found on the victim=s panties and washcloth located at the crime scene:

AFinally taken from that laundry bag was a pair of women=s clothing sitting on top of the laundry bag, a pair of women=s panties and a wash rag. Now, on those panties was some semen and it has the same blood characteristics that the defendant has. And there will be an expert from the FBI to testify to you about that. On the wash rag there are characteristics of human sweat that is consistent with this defendant.@ (Dir. ROA Vol. II 223-4).

Ultimately the jury was told by state witnesses that the biological evidence matched only that 11% of the male population that included Paul Hildwin due to Mr. Hildwin=s unique status as a non-secretor. We now know that the jury was misled to believe, and mistakenly believed, that the biological evidence secured at the crime scene matched the Appellant. If the jury would have heard in rebuttal the information concerning the newly discovered DNA evidence excluding Mr. Hildwin as the source of the DNA, this would have created reasonable doubt and the jury would have acquitted.1

Years ago the Appellant moved that the lower court authorize the release of State=s Exhibits 59 and 60 for the purpose of DNA testing, and the lower court granted this request without objection from the state under Fla. Rule Crim. Proc. 3.853 by order dated June 10, 2002. In accordance with the order, the testing was performed by American Society of Crime Laboratory Directors-certified laboratory Orchid Cellmark rather than FDLE. On January 29, 2003, Orchid Cellmark generated a report which included the finding: **A**Paul Hildwin is excluded as the source of the DNA obtained from [the submitted panties and washcloth].@ (see PC current ROA Vol. I, 00065-00068).

The following is an excerpt from the states closing argument:

Inside that purse was a lady=s brassiere. There=s something very interesting about this, and I want you folks to examine this item. This was not taken off. This was not taken off by anyone during a consensual sex act that involved choking. This is not a consensual sex act. Look at the brassiere. This thing has been literally ripped off. There is nothing consensual about this. This is in shreds. You can still see where one

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991), the Florida Supreme Court held that successive Rule 3.850 motions could be premised upon newly discovered evidence of innocence. To establish an entitlement to relief, **A**the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would *probably* produce an acquittal on retrial.@ <u>Id</u> at 591 So.2d at 915 (emphasis in original). Given the facts of the instant case, and the arguments of the state regarding rape and murder, weighed against the conclusive new scientific proof that the defendant did not in fact rape and murder the victim, an acquittal on retrial in light of the newly discovered DNA evidence is most probable.

of the hooks is still in the eyelet and the other one is torn completely out and the other one is ripped off. This is not a consensual act. This is one of those arrows that Mr. Lewan threw up in the air.

Agent Reem testified about the blood test, the serology test, the secretor/non-secretor evidence, and he told you that some people are what he calls secretors, meaning that they secrete ABO or ABH factors into their other bodily fluids and others don=t. Eleven percent**B**only eleven percent of the white male population are secretors, meaning eighty-nine percent are not. Bill Haverty is a secretor. In other words, his semen and his saliva would exhibit the ABH factors. The defendant, Paul Hildwin, is not a secretor. His saliva and semen would not exhibit the ABH factors. You=I have the little chart that he made and you can look at it.

What-s interesting about that is that on these panties were found **B** these panties were found in the car on top of the laundry, Sergeant Haygood testified to, not in the laundry, on top of the laundry. These panties contained semen that is consistent with the non-secretor 11 percent of the white male population, consistent with the defendant in this case and not consistent with Bill Haverty. This wash rag had saliva from a non-secretor consistent with Paul Hildwin, the defendant, not consistent with Bill Haverty.

And before we go any further, remember the statement that the defendant made to Investigator Phifer that after**B**after Vronzettie Cox was choked to death, the man that did it washed his face with a white rag.<sup>2</sup> (Dir. ROA Vol. VI 971-2)

Simply stated, Mr. Hildwin should be afforded a new trial because of the

following hypothetical scenario: go back to the time of trial, and let-s say that the state

has presented all of it-s evidence, including the testimony from the nurses, the blood

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Had the defense been able to present the newly discovered DNA evidence to the jury, they would not have viewed Paul Hildwin=s statements to law enforcement as Aconfessions,@ they would have known that Paul Hildwin was not responsible for the rape and murder of Vronzettie Cox, the state=s theory of the case would have been completely refuted, and the jury would have acquitted.

drawers, the FBI serological experts, the Agent Reems=exhibit (the chart introduced into evidence) which shows that Mr. Hildwins blood-type matches that 11% of the non-secretor male population that ripped the bra off of the victim, raped her, then deposited his semen and saliva at the crime scene before he murdered her. Now the state rests. Before the defense opens their case, a report magically falls from the courtroom ceiling and lands on defense counsel table: it=s the Orchid Cellmark DNA Report excluding Mr. Hildwin as the donor of the semen and saliva recovered at the crime scene (PC current ROA Vol. I, 00065-00068). Should counsel use this report and this newly discovered evidence in its defense? Absolutely. Might it make a difference in the case? Absolutely! The report completely refutes all of the state-s scientific and serological evidence presented by the state in advancing their theory of guilt. Continuing with the hypothetical scenario, after the defense presents this DNA evidence to the jury and it is accepted, it s time for closing arguments. The state stands slowly, and sheepishly attempts the following in closing argument: AForget everything we said in this trial about panties, washcloths, semen, saliva, secretors, and non-secretors. Paul Hildwin is guilty of murder because he was in possession of the victim-s purse and jewelry, and our jailhouse snitch told you that Mr. Hildwin said that he stabbed the victim.<sup>@</sup> Now the jury ponders, thinks back on the testimony, and is then reminded by defense counsel in closing argument of the non-refutable exculpatory DNA evidence excluding Paul Hildwin as the donor of the semen and

saliva recovered from the crime scene. Regarding the jailhouse snitch=s testimony, defense counsel reminds the jury that the medical examiner stated that the victim was strangled to death, not stabbed to death. As a matter of fact, there were no stab wounds mentioned at all during the trial. Hypothetically, how would the jury vote? Could 12 people agree after hearing about the newly discovered DNA evidence that Paul Hildwin is guilty of first degree murder, considering that the state placed before them completely misleading scientific evidence and a jailhouse snitch who didn=t even know the cause of death? Would those 12 people even reach a penalty phase proceeding after hearing the newly discovered DNA evidence? Would it make a difference to the jury that the state=s theory of the case is now implausible and impossible due to new and improved science?

At the guilt phase of trial the state introduced a pair of semen-stained women's panties and a saliva-stained wash rag. These items were found on a laundry bag at the crime scene in the victim car. State Exhibits 60 and 59 respectively (Dir. ROA Vol. IV 697-99). Analysis showed the semen and saliva came from nonsecretor (i.e., one who does not secrete blood into other bodily fluids). Hildwin, a white male, was found to be a nonsecretor. There was testimony that white male nonsecretors **A**probably@ make up only eleven percent of the population. The prosecution used this evidence in closing argument at the original trial to argue that Hildwin raped and then killed the victim. (Dir. ROA Vol. VI 971-72). At Hildwin resentencing proceeding in

1996, after some deliberation, the jury came back with several questions. The jury=s very *first* question was: **A**Was the victim raped?@(Resentencing, Vol. XI, 956). Had the exculpatory DNA evidence been available to the jury at the original trial, Paul Hildwin would have been acquitted of first degree murder. Had the exculpatory DNA evidence been available to the jury at the 1996 resentencing proceedings, the jury obviously would have recommended a life sentence considering their first burning question that could not be answered.

It is clear that this case carried with it the explicit allegation of a sexual battery. The state=s theory at trial was rape/murder. The state offered the following at a bench conference:

AJudge, first of all, I feel that the evidence that-s going to come out in this case showing this victim unclothed with a ligature around her neck, with her legs bent over her head and forced into the trunk of a car, her clothes found in various areas in the county, a reasonable inference can be made that a sexual assault occurred and we certainly intend to argue that if the evidence supports it.@ (Dir. ROA Vol. I 181).

It became very clear on the first day of trial that the state intended to argue that the victim was raped and murdered by Paul Hildwin. Assistant State Attorney Thomas Hogan stated, **AI** don=t anticipate standing up or Mr. Cole standing up and screaming sexual battery. But when we get to the point in the trial where enough evidence has been put before the jury within a reasonable inference that a sexual battery occurred, we intend to refer to it.@(Dir. ROA Vol. I 185). Not only did the state **A**refer@to this

case being a rape/murder, but they made the alleged rape a focus of the trial. Consequently, the jury was deceived and Mr. Hildwin=s conviction was secured through the use of erroneous scientific evidence. Had the jury known of the newly discovered DNA evidence, they would have acquitted Mr. Hildwin.

Florida has no cases directly on point on the issue of whether newly discovered DNA evidence warrants a new trial.<sup>3</sup> But the legal standard for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence is largely consistent throughout the nation, and is consistent with the Florida standard found in Jones. In the case of <u>Commonwealth v. Reese</u>, 663 A. 2d 206 (Pa. Super. 1995), the Superior Court of Pennsylvania affirmed a lower courts decision granting a new trial for the appellant in light of newly discovered DNA evidence. In <u>Reese</u>, the appellant was found guilty of rape, kidnapping and related offenses.<sup>4</sup>

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