IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL HILDWIN,

Case No. SC04-1264

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. _____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The "mock jury simulation" testimony does no more than attempt to tell the Court how to decide the case.

"There are no facts that count." Harvey Moore. (R385). 27

Under the Rules of Evidence, the testimony of an expert witness is admissible if it will assist the trier of fact in determining a **fact** in issue. § 90.702, Fla. Stat. While opinion testimony is not objectionable "because it includes an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact," § 90.703, Fla. Stat., that does not mean that opinion testimony which tells the trier of fact how to decide the case is admissible. See, Martinez v. State, 761 So. 2d 1074, 1079-80 (Fla. 2000); Tingle v. State, 536 So. 2d 202 (Fla. 1988); Rivera v. State, 807 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). In this case, Hildwin asserts that there is a "great probability" that he would have been acquitted at trial had the DNA evidence been available to him. Initial Brief, at 7. That is, in Hildwin's words, "precisely the issue in" this case, Initial Brief, at 13, and is precisely why the "opinion" testimony is inadmissible. Hildwin's "mock trial" evidence is

²⁷ Harvey Moore is the person who conducted the mock jury proceedings, and is the person Hildwin wants to qualify as an "expert." Given the extremely limited facts presented to the mock juries, Mr. Moore apparently took this statement to heart in this case.

analytically no different from allowing a police officer to testify that, in his opinion, the defendant is guilty, or from allowing a witness to testify that a crime victim was telling the truth. *See Martinez, supra*. That sort of opinion testimony is clearly inadmissible because it does no more than tell the factfinder how to decide the case. Hildwin's "mock jury simulation" testimony is no different because it purports to tell this Court that there is a "great probability of acquittal" with the DNA evidence. That opinion was reached without applying the *Jones* standard at all -- *Jones* requires consideration of the evidence from **trial**, along with the "new" evidence. Hildwin ignored the correct standard and replaced it with a speculative version of how a new **trial** might be conducted. That is not how new evidence claims are evaluated. This opinion testimony is inadmissible, and should not be considered for any purpose.

The "mock jury simulation" is the basis for impermissible opinion testimony concerning a legal conclusion.

"I don't need to know anything about the system." Harvey Moore. (R386).

In addition to being improper testimony which does no more than attempt to tell the factfinder **how** to decide the case, the "mock jury simulation" testimony also violates § 90.703 because Hildwin wants to offer opinion testimony about a legal

conclusion (*i.e.*, the likelihood of an acquittal) through the testimony of an individual who is not an attorney.28 Hildwin is attempting to offer opinion testimony on a question of law -- that is improper because it invades the province of the finder of fact. *See, Lee County v. Barnett Banks,* 711 So. 2d 34 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1997); *In re Estate of Williams,* 771 So. 2d 7, 8 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000). The "mock jury simulation" testimony is inadmissible.

This "evidence" is not, contrary to Hildwin's assertion, similar to an attorney testifying in a postconviction proceeding about whether trial counsel was "ineffective" for Sixth Amendment purposes.²⁹ While such testimony also invades the province of the finder of fact because it is opinion testimony as to a legal conclusion that attempts to tell the Court how to resolve the legal question in the case, an attorney is at least **qualified** to offer a legal opinion by virtue of education and experience.³⁰ In this case, Hildwin is attempting to offer **lay**

²⁸ This is not competent evidence because it did not use the *Jones* "new evidence" standard -- instead, Hildwin "retried" the case on a new theory before the mock juries. In doing so, the cumulative nature of the *Jones* standard was completely ignored.

²⁹ The fact that some circuit courts have allowed such attorney testimony does not control the issue -- the testimony at issue in this case is not comparable.

³⁰ When an attorney offers opinion testimony concerning the effectiveness of another attorney, the testifying attorney is

opinion testimony concerning a legal conclusion -- that is improper, and it stands reason on its head to suggest that a **lay** sociologist is qualified to offer an opinion on a legal conclusion. In this case, **lay** "mock" jurors have considered **selected** (and heavily edited) parts of the record and purport to have reached a **legal** conclusion as to whether the "new evidence" would change the outcome at trial. Hildwin wants to present that "legal" conclusion (which is based entirely on hearsay) through the testimony of a sociologist, who is not qualified to offer a legal opinion, either. Hildwin's theory invades the province of the finder of fact, is inadmissible opinion testimony under any interpretation, and should not be allowed.³¹

Would the "mock jury simulation" testimony be admissible if offered by the state?

It is axiomatic that the Constitution does not require onesidedness in favor of the defendant, and it is equally clear that the rules of evidence are not suspended for the benefit of

qualified to offer such testimony. The question is whether that testimony invades the province of the factfinder.

31 It goes without saying that Circuit Court judges reach legal conclusions in deciding postconviction cases, and that the defendant has no right to have his collateral proceeding assigned to the judge who presided over his original trial. That, however, is different from what Hildwin seeks to do here lay "mock" jurors who did not even hear all of the evidence are not qualified under any circumstances to render an opinion on the effect of any new evidence, and a sociologist is not qualified to do so, either.

a capital defendant. In other words, "[w]e do not have one set of rules for petitioners and their attorneys in capital cases and another set for everyone else." Jackson v. Crosby, 375 F.3d 1291, 1300 (11th Cir. 2004) (Carnes, J., concurring). Both Hildwin and the State are entitled to fundamental fairness, and, because that is so, the State poses the question of whether Hildwin and his amicus would object to the State presenting evidence of a "mock jury simulation" which reached a result contrary to that reached by Hildwin's study. Or, stated another way, if Hildwin's "mock jury" was found to be admissible, would such a study conducted by the State likewise be admissible? Obviously, if such a study is admissible, it makes no difference which party conducted it. If that is the case, and it requires no leap of logic to conclude that if the defendant could offer such testimony the State could too, then the respect that has traditionally been afforded the verdict of a duly sworn jury no longer exists. If the duly-arrived-at verdict of a jury that was selected following voir dire, that heard and observed the witnesses, that was properly instructed on the law by the Court, and that reached its verdict following deliberation can be challenged by a "mock jury" that is not selected by both parties, that hears only a summary of the evidence, and that is not even instructed on the applicable law, then the jury system as it exists is rendered meaningless. The jury itself is the

heart of the judicial system, and Hildwin's theory that a "mock jury" can destroy the verdict of a duly-sworn jury strikes directly at the heart of that system and is fundamentally inconsistent with it. The Circuit Court properly refused all "expert" testimony based upon the "mock jury".

III. THE "FATAL VARIANCE" CLAIM.

On pages 83-91 of his brief, Hildwin argues that the collateral proceeding trial court erred in finding the "constructive amendment/fatal variance" claim procedurally barred. This claim, which relates solely to the guilt phase of Hildwin's capital trial, could have been, but was not, raised at trial, on direct appeal, or in Hildwin's prior post-conviction proceedings. Despite the hyperbole of Hildwin's brief, this claim has never been raised before, whether as a substantive claim, or as one of ineffective assistance of counsel.³² In denying relief on this claim, the collateral proceeding trial court stated:

(1) Defendant's claim of denial of due process should have been raised in earlier pleadings, and cannot be addressed in this successive motion, and therefore is procedurally barred; and

(2) Even if the claim were not procedurally barred, Defendant presents no clear and identifiable claim. He alleges "fatal variances" between the indictment and

³² In addition to Hildwin's failure to raise this claim on direct appeal from his conviction, he did not raise it in his first Rule 3.850 motion or in his state habeas corpus petition. *Hildwin I, supra; Hildwin v. Dugger*, 654 So.2d 107 (Fla. 1995).

the evidence presented at trial, but there is nothing in his motion to substantiate a claim regarding the validity of the indictment. He was indicted for, and tried and convicted on, a charge of first degree murder. He was afforded due process and there were no "fatal variances and/or constructive amendments."

(R426). Hildwin did not timely raise this challenge to his conviction, and, under settled Florida law, is procedurally barred from raising it now. Rule 3.850(c)(6), *Fla. R. Crim. P.* The collateral proceeding trial court properly denied relief on the alternative grounds of procedural bar and no merit -- that disposition should be affirmed.

IV. THE "CUMULATIVE ERROR" CLAIM

On pages 92-98 of his brief, Hildwin argues that he is entitled to relief based upon "cumulative error" occurring at all stages of his capital trial. This claim appears to focus on what is now described as "new evidence" from Hildwin's prior post-conviction proceeding. However, Hildwin fails to disclose to this Court that what he has now labeled "new evidence" was litigated in the prior proceeding as a *Brady* claim which was decided adversely to him. This claim is procedurally barred, as the circuit court found.

In denying relief on this claim, the trial court stated:

(e) Claim V: Mr. Hildwin's convictions are materially unreliable because no adversarial testing occurred due to the cumulative effects of ineffective assistance of counsel, the withholding of exculpatory or impeachment material, newly discovered evidence, and/or improper rulings of the trial court, in violation of Mr.

Hildwin's rights as guaranteed by the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

(1) As the Defendant, himself states, this claim is a "catch-all." It contains numerous allegations that were or should have been brought in the original appeal or previous motions, and cannot now be again reviewed. This appears to be Defendant's attempt for a second (or third) bite at the apple, and cannot be allowed; and

(2) Interestingly, in Claim IV the Defendant alleges that the Jones standard is speculative, inappropriate and unconstitutional, yet in Claim V asks this Court "cumulative" conduct а Jones analysis to in reconsidering and vacating his conviction and sentence; and

2) This Court has spent a great deal of time reviewing the transcripts in this case, and has noted the total lack of truthfulness and veracity in statements and testimony of the Defendant, which obviously did not escape the *jury*. The trial transcript indicates, in part, that:

The Defendant told several different versions of how he met up with the victim on the date in question, and what occurred thereafter, sometimes involving other persons in his stories.

The Defendant told various stories about whether he was acquainted with either the victim or her boyfriend, at first denying he knew either, then indicating he knew them slightly, then progressing to the point that he indicated the victim was well-enough acquainted with him that she "loaned" him her radio and "loaned" him money, in the form of a check, both of which he later admitted were lies, because he stole those items from her.

The Defendant first alleged that the victim's radio had been loaned to him by the victim because his car radio didn't work, then admitted his car radio did work, but she still loaned him the radio, then finally admitted, after it was found in his home, that he had stolen it. \$As to the forged check, he first alleged that the victim wrote it out and gave it to him as a loan, then he said that a third party had torn it out of her checkbook and given it to him, and finally he admitted that he had stolen it from her purse, and forged and cashed it.

\$As to the victim's pearl ring, which was found in the Defendant's home, the victim's sister testified that the victim treasured the ring, but the Defendant alleged he *found it* in the garbage, then later indicated he found it in the victim's checkbook so he stole it along with the check.

\$The Defendant indicated in one of his stories that he was riding with the victim and her boyfriend when they got into an argument and the boyfriend hit her and was choking her, at which time the Defendant left them and walked away, inferring the boyfriend killed the victim. The boyfriend denied even knowing the Defendant.

\$Further, the Defendant indicated that the person who killed the victim had a cross tattoo on his back. The boyfriend had no such tattoo; however, testimony indicated, in fact, that it was the Defendant who had a cross tattoo on his back.

\$The death penalty was discussed at length, starting at voir dire. There were numerous references in the transcript to the charge of murder and the intent of the state attorney to seek the death penalty, so Defendant could not have been surprised.

\$The Defendant denied driving the victim's car, but testimony was presented that a hair found on the left front seat of the vehicle (the driver's seat) matched a hair taken from the Defendant's head.

3) There were numerous *conflicting and* inconsistent statements, and outright lies admitted to by the Defendant, which, along with the evidence and testimony presented, were sufficient for the jury to return a unanimous verdict of guilty at trial, even without the secretor/nonsecretor testimony.

(R427-28). The trial court's denial of relief should be

affirmed in all respects.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, this Court decided the previously-raised *Brady* claim

in the following way:

Hildwin argues that the State withheld exculpatory evidence in derogation of *Brady*. [FN6] Alternatively, Hildwin contends that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to discover that evidence.

FN6. Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963).

In order to establish a *Brady* violation, Hildwin would have to prove: (1) that the State possessed evidence favorable to him; (2) that he did not possess the favorable evidence nor could he obtain it with any reasonable diligence; (3) that the State suppressed the favorable evidence; and (4) that had the evidence been disclosed to Hildwin, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different. *See Hegwood v. State*, 575 So. 2d 170, 172 (Fla. 1991). In denying Hildwin's *Brady* claim, the trial court concluded:

There is no indication, based on the evidence presented at the **3.850** hearing, that any evidence was withheld from the Defendant; and certainly no evidence was presented at the **3.850** hearing that any evidence Defense counsel claimed he did not receive and did not otherwise have access to, would have with "reasonable probability" changed the result.

We agree. In fact, five witnesses testified that the State's entire file was made available to defense counsel. The record simply does not support Hildwin's *Brady* claim.

Hildwin's *Brady* claim is no more persuasive recast as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. In order to prevail on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Hildwin must demonstrate that his trial counsel's performance was deficient and "but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2068, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). There was overwhelming evidence of Hildwin's guilt presented at the trial. Therefore, assuming without deciding that trial counsel's performance was deficient for failing to discover certain exculpatory evidence, we do not believe Hildwin has demonstrated a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial proceedings would have been different had this evidence been presented.

Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107, 109 (Fla. 1995). If there was no Brady violation, and the law of the case is that there was not, Hildwin's "new evidence" variant of that claim fails, as well. The collateral proceeding trial court properly denied relief on procedural bar grounds, and that finding should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

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